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The National Competition Council 

The National Competition Council was established on 6 November 1995 by the Competition Policy 

Reform Act 1995 following agreement by the Australian Government and state and territory 

governments. It is a statutory authority which functions as an independent advisory body for all 

governments on third party access regulation. Information on the National Competition Council, its 

publications and its current work program can be found on the internet at www.ncc.gov.au or by 

contacting NCC Communications on 1800 099 470. 
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About this report 

The role of the National Competition Council (Council) is to make recommendations 

concerning access to infrastructure services under the National Access Regime prescribed in 

Part IIIA of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth) (CCA) and recommendations and 

decisions under the National Gas Law (NGL). 

National Competition Council Outcome  

Competition in markets that are dependent on access to nationally significant 

monopoly infrastructure, through recommendations and decisions promoting the 

efficient operation of, use of and investment in infrastructure 

This annual report covers the Council’s work during 2017-18.  

Chapter 1 provides the President’s review of significant issues, events and actions relevant to 

the Council during 2017-18.  

Chapter 2 reports on the work undertaken by the Council during 2017-18 in its role of making 

recommendations to Ministers on applications for declaration and certification under Part IIIA 

of the CCA and on matters pursuant to the NGL. The chapter also reports on the National 

Access Regime as required by s 29O of the CCA, and summarises the Council’s performance 

against its key performance measures.  

Chapter 3 discusses the Council’s governance arrangements. 

Chapter 4 contains the Council’s audited financial statements for 2017-18. 

A summary of the resources for the Council’s 2017-18 outcome are tabulated on page 25. 

Compliance with requirements for annual reports for non-corporate Commonwealth entities 

is shown on pages 33-39. 
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1 President’s Review 

The 2017-18 financial year has seen a number of notable developments relating to the work 

of the Council, including a key decision of the Full Federal Court, significant legislative reforms 

to the National Access Regime administered by the Council, and reform and policy 

developments in relation to the regulation of gas pipelines.  

In relation to the declaration of services under Part IIIA, in August 2017 the Full Federal Court 

handed down a judgement dismissing the judicial review proceedings brought by Port of 

Newcastle Operations Pty Ltd (PNO) (and which the Council obtained leave to intervene) in 

relation to a decision by the Australian Competition Tribunal to declare the shipping channel 

service at the Port of Newcastle. In September 2017, PNO applied for, and the Council 

obtained leave to intervene in, an application to the High Court of Australia for special leave 

to appeal the Full Court’s decision. That application was dismissed by the High Court on 23 

March 2018. 

On the policy front, in October 2017 Parliament passed the Competition and Consumer 

Amendment (Competition Policy Review) Act 2017 (Amendment Act). Amongst other things, 

the Amendment Act ushered in significant reforms to the National Access Regime, including 

significant changes to the declaration criteria in Part IIIA of the Competition and Consumer 

Act 2010 (CCA).  

These reforms follow extensive reviews of Part IIIA undertaken by the Productivity 

Commission in 2013 and the Competition Policy Review in 2014-15.  

On the declaration criteria, the amendments implement the Productivity Commission’s 

recommendations to clarify and refine the criteria to ensure they remain effective. Notably, 

the amendments to declaration criterion (a) ensure the focus of this criterion is on 

considering the impact of declaration on competition in other markets; and amendments to 

criterion (b) clarify that the test imposed under this criterion is a natural monopoly test. The 

former criterion (f) has also been re-formulated in a new criterion (d), to the effect that the 

Minister must be positively satisfied that declaration is in the public interest. 

The amendments also include other changes to Part IIIA, including: 

 deeming  that the designated Minister has accepted the Council’s recommendation if 

he or she has not published a decision within 60 days of receiving the Council’s 

recommendation on a declaration application; and  

 a new mechanism for the Commonwealth Minister to revoke a certification based on 

the Council’s recommendation.  

As detailed in previous annual reports, the Council has been supportive of the majority of 

these legislative changes. Following the changes, the Council updated its Declaration of 

Services Guide and Certification of State and Territory Access Regime Guide, in late 2017.  

The regulation of natural gas pipelines has continued to attract considerable policy attention. 

Of particular relevance for the Council, following the 2015-16 ACCC East Coast Gas Inquiry 

and Dr Michael Vertigan AC’s Examination of the Current Test for the Regulation of Gas 

Pipelines in 2016, the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) Energy Council endorsed a 
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new gas pipeline information disclosure and commercial arbitration regime, which took effect 

on 1 August 2017. This regime largely operates outside the Council’s area of responsibilities 

under the National Gas Law (NGL), and applies regulation under Part 23 of the National Gas 

Rules (NGR) to ‘non-scheme’ pipelines (i.e. pipelines that are not covered and not previously 

subject to any access regulation).  

During 2017-18, the COAG Energy Council also requested the Australian Energy Market 

Commission (AEMC) review the economic regulation for covered pipelines. During its review, 

the AEMC examined the new regime’s interaction with the pre-existing regulatory framework 

and, without making any firm recommendations, canvassed potential options to re-design 

the overarching regulatory framework, in part administered by the Council. This included 

potentially changing the processes and criteria by which the Council makes recommendations 

regarding coverage of pipelines and decisions regarding the forms of regulation.  

As noted in this report, in April 2018, the Council provided a detailed submission to the AEMC 

review. While there is no firm recommendation regarding these matters as at the end of this 

reporting period, the AEMC will likely revisit these issues again in 2019.  As such, this remains 

a policy process the Council continues to follow.  

While there were initially announcements of new functions for the Council in the 

Government’s 2017-18 Commonwealth Budget, in relation to the implementation of two 

policies – the Intergovernmental Agreement on Competition and Productivity-Enhancing 

Reforms (IGA) and National Housing and Homelessness Agreement – those new measures 

were subsequently unwound in the Government’s Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal Outlook 

(released in December 2017). As a result, there are no material changes expected to the 

Council’s roles and responsibilities in the near term, and the Council’s arrangements to 

procure services from the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC) (under a 

Memorandum of Understanding between the two agencies) is expected to continue. 

In December 2017, Ms Linda Evans completed her term as Councillor, and Mr Chris Jose 

was appointed to the Council for a three year term.  

I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge Ms Evans’ valuable contribution as 

Councillor over the past four and a half years, including as Chair of the Audit Committee 

over the past two years. On behalf of the Council, I thank her for the wisdom and 

expertise she has imparted and wish her well for the future.  

 

Julie-Anne Schafer 

President 
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2 Third party access to infrastructure services  

Part IIIA of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (CCA) establishes the National Access 

Regime under which an access seeker can gain access to services provided by nationally 

significant infrastructure that exhibit natural monopoly characteristics, in circumstances 

where access (or increased access) to the service on reasonable terms and conditions, as a 

result of a declaration would promote a material increase in competition in a dependent 

market.  

Under the regime the National Competition Council (Council) considers applications relating 

to the declaration of services, ineligible service rulings and the certification of state and 

territory access regimes and makes recommendations to designated Ministers. The Council 

has a similar role under the National Gas Law (NGL) whereby it makes recommendations to 

relevant Minister(s) on the coverage (regulation) of natural gas pipeline systems.   

Declaration of services 

Obtaining access under the National Access Regime is a two stage process. The first stage 

involves the Council considering applications seeking the ‘declaration’ of a service (or 

services) before making a recommendation to the designated Minister who determines 

whether the service should be ‘declared’. The second stage is a negotiate/arbitrate process, 

where the parties ─ the access provider(s) and the access seeker(s) ─ try to reach 

commercial agreement on the terms and conditions of access. There is recourse to binding 

arbitration by the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC) in the event that 

the parties are unable to reach agreement. 

The Council cannot recommend that a service be declared unless satisfied of all of the 

declaration criteria set out in s 44CA of the CCA (previously, s 44G(2)). The Minister cannot 

declare a service unless also satisfied that the same criteria in s 44CA of the CCA (previously, 

s 44H(4)) are met.  

As a result of the Competition and Consumer Amendment (Competition Policy Review) Act 

2017 (Amendment Act), passed in October 2017, material amendments have been made to 

Part IIIA of the CCA, including the declaration criteria. 

The new declaration criteria, which the Council and Minister must consider before 

recommending or making a declaration respectively, are reproduced in Box 2-1.  

Box 2-1 Declaration criteria (section 44CA of the CCA) 

 that access (or increased access) to the service, on reasonable terms and conditions, 
as a result of a declaration of the service would promote a material increase in 
competition in at least one market (whether or not in Australia), other than the 
market for the service (criterion (a)) 

 that the facility that is used (or will be used) to provide the service could meet the 
total foreseeable demand in the market: 

- over the period for which the service would be declared, and 

- at the least cost compared to any 2 or more facilities (which could include 
the first mentioned facility) (criterion (b)) 
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 that the facility is of national significance, having regard to: 

- the size of the facility or 

- the importance of the facility to constitutional trade or commerce, or 

- the importance of the facility to the national economy (criterion (c)) 

 that access (or increased access) to the service, on reasonable terms and conditions, 
as a result of a declaration of the service would promote the public interest (criterion 
d)  

In making its recommendation, the Council undertakes a public consultation process. This 

usually involves: 

 publishing the application and seeking submissions on the application from the 

service provider and other interested parties 

 publishing a draft recommendation setting out the Council’s assessment of the 

application 

 seeking submissions on the draft recommendation and 

 preparing a final recommendation. 

Upon receipt of the Council’s final recommendation, the designated Minister must decide 

whether or not to declare the service, applying the same declaration criteria as the Council.  

The Council is required to make its recommendation to the designated Minister within 180 

days from receipt of an application. If the designated Minister does not make and publish a 

decision within 60 days of receiving the Council’s recommendation, the designated Minister is 

deemed to have made a decision in accordance with the Council’s recommendation and to 

have published a decision to that effect.   

Ministerial decisions are subject to limited merits review by Australian Competition Tribunal 

(Tribunal). The Tribunal has 180 days to make its decision, and is limited to considering the 

material that was before the designated Minister or, in the case of a deemed decision, the 

material that was before the Council (unless the Tribunal requests additional information).  

Where a service is declared, the negotiation and arbitration stage of the National Access 

Regime is enlivened. Any person seeking access to the service (not just the declaration 

applicant) has a right to negotiate with the provider of the declared service. It is expected 

that an access seeker will negotiate the terms and conditions of access directly with the 

service provider. If commercial negotiations are unsuccessful, then the access dispute may be 

arbitrated by the ACCC. This ‘light handed’ regulatory approach is intended to encourage 

commercial resolution with minimal regulatory intervention.  

Regulatory intervention occurs only in the event that an access seeker and service provider 

are unable to reach commercial agreement and an access dispute is notified (by either party) 

to the ACCC. The ACCC has broad scope to make orders to resolve an access dispute — 

although it must do so within the terms set out in Part IIIA including, in particular, the factors 

or safeguards to the rights of service providers and existing users (set out in s 44W of the 

CCA). Ultimately, if the ACCC is unable to arrive at access terms that appropriately recognise 

the interests of an infrastructure owner, then it does not have to require access to a declared 

service. 
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Providers of declared services to which an access seeker has rights under an ACCC arbitration 

determination are subject to a prohibition against preventing or hindering access to those 

services. Service providers are not required, however, to seek regulatory approval in relation 

to their day to day business decisions or their technology or investment choices, nor do 

access seekers have a veto in relation to these matters. 

As at 30 June 2018, two services were declared under Part IIIA (see Table 2-1).  

Table 2-1 Declared services 

Service Duration 

Goldsworthy Railway Service (WA) Expires 20 years from 19 November 2008 

Port of Newcastle shipping channels Commenced 8 July 2016; expires 7 July 2031 

There is an exemption from access regulation available for services that would be provided 

by greenfields infrastructure. A person with a material interest in a proposed new 

infrastructure facility can apply to the Council for a service to be provided by that new facility 

to be ineligible for declaration. For a proposed service to be ineligible for declaration, one or 

more of the declaration criteria must not be able to be satisfied. An ineligibility decision will 

apply for a period of at least 20 years.1 Further, a service provided by Commonwealth, state 

or territory government-owned infrastructure cannot be declared if the construction and 

operation of the facility was subject to an approved competitive tender process. 

Under the National Access Regime, a facility owner can volunteer an access undertaking to 

the ACCC setting out the terms on which access will be granted. There is also a process by 

which a state or territory access regime can be ‘certified’ as effective. Where an access 

undertaking is accepted by the ACCC, or a state or territory access regime is certified as 

effective, the relevant services are excluded from the prospect of declaration. 

Certification of state and territory access regimes 

Applications for the certification of state or territory access regimes are made to the Council 

by the responsible Minister of the state or territory, usually the Premier or Chief Minister. The 

Council is then responsible for making a recommendation to the Commonwealth Minister as 

to whether the state or territory access regime is effective.  

In making a certification recommendation, the Council must consider the application against 

the principles in clauses 6(2) to 6(5) of the Competition Principles Agreement (CPA) (clause 6 

principles), treating each clause 6 principle as a guideline rather than a binding rule. The 

Council must also have regard to the objects of Part IIIA set out in s 44AA of the CCA and 

must not consider any other matters (see generally s 44M of the CCA). The Commonwealth 

Minister in making his or her decision is subject to the same requirements as the Council in 

making its recommendation (see s 44N). 

                                                           
1  No applications for an ineligible service ruling under Part IIIA have been made since this provision 

was enacted in 2010. 
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In December 2016, a successor to the CPA was announced. The new Intergovernmental 

Agreement on Competition and Productivity Enhancing Reforms (IGA) which contains 

amendments to the CPA, commenced on 9 December 2016 upon signature by the 

Commonwealth and four states and territories. As at the end of June 2018, however, Victoria, 

Queensland and South Australia had not signed the IGA. 

The IGA (at Appendix C.1 of the Agreement) contains principles in relation to access to 

services provided by means of significant infrastructure facilities, including principles to be 

applied by the Council and the relevant Minister when making recommendations and 

decisions on applications for certification of the effectiveness of access regimes under Part 

IIIA of the CCA. However, given the IGA has not been agreed by Victoria, Queensland and 

South Australia, and that the clause 6 principles in the CPA have not been revoked, those 

principles will continue to have effect until the IGA has been signed by all signatories.   

As is the case with declaration applications, the Council is required to make its certification 

recommendation to the Commonwealth Minister within 180 days from receipt of an 

application and the Minister must make and publish a decision within 60 days of receiving the 

Council’s recommendation. If the Commonwealth Minister does not make and publish his or 

her decision within 60 days, he or she is deemed to have made a decision in accordance with 

the Council’s recommendation. 

Following the amendments to the CCA in 2017, there is now a mechanism for revocation of a 

decision to certify an access regime. Under section 44NBA(1), the Council may on its own 

initiative, or must on application, consider whether to recommend that the Commonwealth 

Minister revoke the decision.  The Council must consider whether it is satisfied that the 

regime no longer meets the clause 6 principles set out in the CPA because of substantial 

changes to the regime, and/or substantial amendments to the clause 6 principles. On 

receiving the Council’s recommendation, the Commonwealth Minister must assess whether 

he or she should revoke the decision, applying the same factors and matters as the Council. If 

a decision of the Commonwealth Minister is not made and published within 60 days, the 

Minister is deemed to have made and published a decision in accordance with the Council’s 

recommendation. 

The certification process provides a high-level assurance that a state or territory access 

regime that will apply to the exclusion of declaration reflects similar principles to the regime 

it displaces. However, the certification process is not an assessment of the operation of a 

state or territory access regime or whether an access regime is ‘optimal’.  

State and territory governments undertook to ensure all existing and new regimes are 

certified as effective. In addition, under the Australian Energy Market Agreement, the 

Commonwealth and the states and territories agreed to take all reasonable measures to 

ensure that the regimes relating to gas and electricity infrastructure access are certified. In 

recent years, however, the practice of state and territory governments seeking certification of 

access regimes has become less common. This is borne out in Table 2-2, which contains a 

listing of state and territory access regimes, indicating their certification status. 
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Whilst, as noted above, the certification process does not guarantee a given access regime is 

‘optimal’, it nevertheless does provide a degree of assurance that the clause 6 principles have 

been addressed. 

Table 2-2 State and Territory Access Regimes 

State/Territory Access regimes Certification status 

ACT Electricity networks (NEM2) Not certified 

 Gas pipeline networks (NGL3) Not certified 

NSW Water infrastructure (Water Industry 
Competition Act 2006 (NSW)) 

Certified in respect of access to water 
infrastructure services in the areas 
listed in Schedule 1 of the Act (namely 
the areas of operation of Sydney Water 
Corporation and Hunter Water 
Corporation) for a period of 10 years 
from 13 August 2009 

 Intrastate railways (New South Wales 
Rail Access Undertaking, Transport 
Administration Act 1988 (NSW)) 

Not certified (previous certification 
expired on 31 December 2000) 

 Electricity networks (NEM) Not certified 

 Gas pipeline networks (NGL) Not certified 

NT Electricity networks (Electricity 
Networks (Third Party Access) Act (NT)) 

Not certified 

 Gas pipeline networks (NGL) Not certified 

Queensland Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal 
(Queensland Competition Authority Act 
1997 (QLD) (QCA Act)) 

Certified for 10 years from 11 July 2011 

 Central Queensland Coal Railway 
Network and other railways operated 
by Queensland Rail (QCA Act) 

Certified for 10 years from 19 January 
2011 

 Electricity networks (NEM) Not certified 

 Gas pipeline networks (NGL) Not certified 

SA Specified bulk water transport 
pipelines operated by SA Water set out 
in Part 9A of the Water Industry Act 
2012 (SA). 

Intrastate railway infrastructure -  
(Railways (Operations and Access) Act 
1997 (SA))  

Certified for 10 years from 22 May 
2017 

 

 

Certified for 10 years from 26 July 2011 

 South Australian Ports (Maritime 
Services (Access) Act 2000 (SA)) 

Certified for 10 years from 9 May 2011 

                                                           
2  NEM indicates membership of the National Electricity Market scheme incorporating electricity 

network regulation under the National Electricity Law (National Electricity (South Australia) Act 

1996) and mirror legislation in other jurisdictions. 

3  NGL indicates access regulation under the National Gas Law (National Gas (South Australia) Act 

2008) and mirror application Acts in other jurisdictions. 
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State/Territory Access regimes Certification status 

 Electricity networks (NEM) Not certified 

 Gas pipeline networks (NGL) Not certified 

Tasmania Electricity networks (NEM) Not certified 

 Gas pipeline networks (NGL) Not certified 

Victoria Electricity networks (NEM) Not certified 

 Gas pipeline networks (NGL) Not certified 

 Intrastate railways (Rail Management  
Act 1996 (Vic)) 

Not certified  

 Shipping channels in Port Phillip Bay 
(Port Management Act 1995 (Vic)) 

Not certified 

WA Certain intrastate railways (Railways 
(Access) Act 1998 (WA) and the 
Railways (Access) Code 2000) 

Not certified (previous certification 
expired on 10 February 2016)  

 Electricity Network Services (Electricity 
Industry Act 2004 (WA), Electricity 
Networks Access Code 2004 (WA))4 

Certified for 15 years from 17 July 2005 

 Gas pipeline networks (NGL5) Not certified 

The National Gas Law 

The NGL provides for the regulation of natural gas pipeline services in Australia.  

The Council’s role under the NGL is similar to its role under Part IIIA of the CCA. The Council 

makes recommendations to relevant Minister(s) on the coverage (regulation) of natural gas 

pipeline systems. In addition, under the NGL, the Council also: 

 decides the form of regulation of natural gas pipeline systems (ie. light or full 

regulation)  

 classifies pipelines as transmission or distribution pipelines, and  

 makes recommendations in relation to certain exemptions for ‘greenfields’ gas 

pipeline proposals. 

Under the NGL the Council is subject to a time limit, generally of four months, for making its 

recommendations and determinations. 

The current ‘coverage criteria’ are reproduced in Box 2-2.  

  

                                                           
4  This regime applies to the South West Interconnected System. 

5  The National Gas Access (WA) Act 2009 applies the NGL and National Gas Rules in Western 

Australia except that the relevant regulator is the Economic Regulation Authority of Western 

Australia rather than the Australian Energy Regulator.  
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Box 2-2 Coverage criteria (section 15 of the NGL) 

 that access (or increased access) to pipeline services provided by means of the 
pipeline would promote a material increase in competition in at least 1 market 
(whether or not in Australia), other than the market for the pipeline services 
provided by means of the pipeline (criterion (a)) 

 that it would be uneconomic for anyone to develop another pipeline to provide the 
pipeline services provided by means of the pipeline (criterion (b)) 

 that access (or increased access) to the pipeline services provided by means of the 
pipeline can be provided without undue risk to human health or safety (criterion (c)) 

 that access (or increased access) to the pipeline services provided by means of the 
pipeline would not be contrary to the public interest (criterion (d)). 

Prior to the passage of the Amendment Act, the wording of the coverage criteria broadly 

mirrored that of the declaration criteria in Part IIIA of the CCA. However, there are now 

notable differences between the two sets of criteria, which the Council and the Minister must 

consider when making recommendations and decisions regarding declaration and coverage 

respectively. These matters are described in more detail in the Council’s report under s29O of 

the CCA.  

Submissions to policy reviews 

As noted in previous annual reports, the regulation of gas pipelines has attracted 

considerable policy attention in recent years. Of particular relevance for the Council, 

following the 2015-16 ACCC East Coast Gas Inquiry, and Dr Michael Vertigan AC’s Examination 

of the Current Test for the Regulation of Gas Pipelines in 2016, the Council of Australian 

Governments (COAG) Energy Council endorsed a new gas pipeline information disclosure and 

commercial arbitration regime.  

The new regime took effect upon commencement of Part 23 of the National Gas Rules (NGR) 

on 1 August 2017. The Part 23 regime largely operates as a stand-alone regime, separate to 

the Council’s area of responsibilities, and applies various forms of regulation under Part 23 of 

the NGR to ‘non-scheme’ pipelines, i.e. pipelines that are not covered and were not 

previously subject to access regulation under the NGL. In effect, this regime has bypassed the 

coverage criteria as the ‘gateway’ to regulation, and ‘deemed’ all non-scheme pipelines 

(except for those that do not provide third party access) as requiring of regulation, based on 

the assumption that they all have market power.  

In 2017-18, at the request of the COAG Energy Council, the Australian Energy Market 

Commission (AEMC) completed a review into the scope of economic regulation applying to 

covered pipelines under Parts 8-12 of the NGR. During its review, the AEMC examined the 

new Part 23 regime and its interaction with other pre-existing forms of regulation (i.e. full and 

light regulation). In that context, without making any firm recommendations, the AEMC 

canvassed potential options to re-design the overarching regulatory framework, in part 

administered by the Council. This included potentially changing the processes and criteria by 

which the Council makes recommendations regarding coverage of pipelines and decisions 

regarding the forms of regulation.  
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In April 2018, the Council provided a detailed submission to the AEMC review. In its 

submission, the Council noted its reservations regarding the approach to regulating non-

scheme pipelines under Part 23 of the NGR without an assessment under the coverage 

criteria, and called for caution against any considerations to further lower the threshold of 

the coverage criteria or bypass the coverage criteria.  

While the Council provided an in-principle support for some of the AEMC’s draft 

recommendations (in terms of aligning the information disclosure and arbitration provisions 

for all forms of regulation to prevent inconsistencies), it did not support the AEMC’s proposed 

re-design of the regulatory framework. In essence, the Council considered the proposal 

would have the effect of relegating the role of the coverage criteria, which could lead to full 

regulation being more easily imposed without careful consideration of the necessity or the 

costs and benefits of such regulation (evaluated in terms of promotion of competition in 

dependent markets), and without considering the balance of public interest considerations. 

Instead, the Council recommended an alternative re-design option for consideration, and 

outlined its preference for the coverage criteria to be the primary ‘gateway’ to determine the 

application of full regulation.  

The Council’s submission also considered issues relating to light regulation (the possibility of 

removing light regulation in light of the introduction of Part 23) and the 15-year no-coverage 

exemption for greenfields pipelines (the exemption’s interaction with Part 23). 

In July 2018, the AEMC released its final report. While the report did not make any firm 

recommendations regarding the coverage criteria and potential re-design options for the 

regulatory framework, it indicated a proposal for the AEMC to undertake a more fulsome 

review and consultation on these matters at the same time as, or as part of, the post-

implementation review of the Part 23 regime scheduled in 2019. As these issues relate to the 

Council’s functions and responsibilities under the NGL, the Council intends to follow and 

engage with the proposed review in due course. If the review results in any policy decisions 

to change the coverage criteria or any other mechanisms administered by the Council under 

the NGL, the Council will update its guidelines accordingly.  

Annual Performance Statement for the Council for 2017-18 

Statement of Performance 

I, as the accountable authority of the National Competition Council (NCC), present the 2017-

18 annual performance statements of the NCC, as required under paragraph 39(1)(a) of the 

Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act). In my opinion, 

these annual performance statements are based on properly maintained records, accurately 

reflect the performance of the entity in the reporting period, and comply with subsection 

39(2) of the PGPA Act.  

 
Julie-Anne Schafer 

President 



2 Regulated third party access to infrastructure services 

Page 11 

The Council’s Purpose 

The Council’s purpose is to: 

 make recommendations under the National Access Regime in Part IIIA of the CCA, 

to relevant ministers in relation to applications for declaration of services and also 

the certification of state or territory access regimes, and  

 make recommendations on the coverage of natural gas pipeline systems and 

decisions on the form of regulation (light or full), classification of pipelines 

(transmission or distribution) and recommending in relation to various exemptions 

for greenfields gas pipelines (Outcome 1). 

While additional functions for the Council – in relation to the IGA and the National Housing 

and Homeless Agreement – were initially announced in the 2017-18 Commonwealth Budget, 

those measures were subsequently unwound in the Government’s Mid-Year Economic and 

Fiscal Outlook (released in December 2017). As a result, there are no material changes 

expected to the Council’s roles and responsibilities in the near term. 

Key performance indicators for the Council’s purpose 

1.  Recommendations on declaration applications made within statutory time limits 

(consideration period of 180 days) and meet advice requirements of ministers  

(Corporate Plan 2017-18 and Program 1.1, 2017-18 Portfolio Budget Statements p268). 

The Council had no ongoing applications for declaration at the start of the 2017-18 year.  

In November 2015, the Council provided the relevant Minister with a recommendation 

relating to the shipping channel service at the Port of Newcastle. The Council’s 

recommendation was to not declare the service. The Minister reached similar conclusions to 

the Council and made a decision to that effect.  

Following a review of the Minister’s decision by the Tribunal, the Tribunal set aside the 

decision made by the Minister, and on 16 June 2016 published orders declaring the shipping 

channel service at the Port of Newcastle, with effect from 8 July 2016 until 7 July 2031.  

In July 2016, Port of Newcastle Operations Pty Ltd (PNO) applied for (and the Council 

obtained leave to intervene in relation to) judicial review of the Tribunal’s decision. That 

application was heard by a Full Court of the Federal Court of Australia on 28 and 29 

November 2016, and on 16 August 2017 the Federal Court handed down its judgment in the 

matter, deciding to dismiss the application for judicial review: Port of Newcastle Operations 

Pty Ltd v Australian Competition Tribunal [2017] FCAFC 124. 

In September 2017, PNO applied for, and the Council obtained leave to intervene in relation 

to, an application to the High Court of Australia for special leave to appeal the Full Court’s 

decision. The application was dismissed by the High Court on 23 March 2018. 

The Council did not receive any new applications for declaration under Part IIIA of the CCA in 

2017-18.  
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2.  Recommendations on certification applications made within statutory time 

limits (consideration period of 180 days) and meet advice requirements of ministers  

(Corporate Plan 2017-18 and Program 1.1, 2017-18 Portfolio Budget Statements p268). 

The Council had no ongoing applications for certification at the start of 2017-18. The Council 

did not receive any new applications for certification during 2017-18. 

3. Recommendations and decisions under the NGL made within specified time 

limits and recommendations under the NGL meet advice requirements of ministers 

(Corporate Plan 2017-18 and Program 1, 2017-18 Portfolio Budget Statements p268). 

The Council had no ongoing applications under the NGL at the start of 2017-18. The Council 

did not receive any new applications under the NGL in 2017-18.  

4. Accessible information on all access regulation matters for which the NCC is 

responsible is provided on the NCC website  

(Corporate Plan 2017-18 and Program 1.1, 2017-18 Portfolio Budget Statements p269). 

The Council’s principal website (www.ncc.gov.au) contains information on the Council’s 

responsibilities and roles concerning third party access to infrastructure under both the CCA 

and the NGL. The website aims to provide ready access to: 

 information on current applications, including copies of the application and 

submissions and timing matters 

 information on past applications 

 Council guides and other publications and resources, and 

 details of the Council’s operations. 

During 2017-18 there were 86 075 visits to the Council’s website (2016-17: 96 385). 

The Council has a second website incorporating the material from its previous role and work 

on the National Competition Policy (NCP) reform program (www.ncp.ncc.gov.au). This 

website provides an historic record of governments’ development of, agreement to and 

implementation, and outcomes of the (now concluded) NCP reform program, the reforms 

under the program and the outcomes of the Council’s regular assessments of progress.  

During 2017-18 there were 112 202 visits to the NCP website (2016-17: 91 465 visits). 

5. Up-to-date and informative guidelines on all the NCC’s areas of responsibility are 

maintained on the NCC website  

(Corporate Plan 2017-18 and Program 1.1, 2017-18 Portfolio Budget Statements p269). 

The Council publishes guides to declaration and certification under Part IIIA of the CCA and to 

coverage determinations and other Council responsibilities under the NGL. The current 

guidelines may be downloaded or printed from the Council’s website (www.ncc.gov.au).  

The guides reflect the Council’s thinking as it has evolved through dealing with applications, 

and draws on relevant decisions of the Tribunal and the Courts. They are designed to be 

http://www.infrastructure.gov.au/aviation/airport/airport_economic_regulation/response.aspx
http://www.ncp.ncc.gov.au/
http://www.ncc.gov.au/images/uploads/Declaration_Guide_2013.pdf
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informative and assist prospective applicants to determine the merits of an application and, if 

appropriate, frame an application to the Council. They are also useful to service providers and 

other parties involved in declaration and similar processes under Part IIIA and the NGL.  

On 18 October 2017, the CCA was amended by the Competition and Consumer Amendment 

(Competition Policy Review) Act 2017 (Amendment Act). Following the commencement of 

these legislative changes on 6 November 2017, the Council updated its Declaration of 

Services Guide and Certification of State and Territory Access Regime Guide in December 

2017. 

In April 2018, the Council again updated its Declaration of Services Guide, to take account of 

the outcome in the special leave application brought by PNO to the High Court to appeal the 

Full Federal Court decision in Port of Newcastle Operations Pty Ltd v Australian Competition 

Tribunal [2017] FCAFC 124.  

As detailed in other parts of the report, while there have been recent reforms and policy 

reviews in relation to the regulation of gas pipelines, at this time there is no policy decision to 

change the coverage criteria or any other mechanisms administered by the Council under the 

NGL. The Council intends to follow the scheduled review of the Part 23 regime in 2019, 

including review of any matters related to the Council’s areas of responsibility under the NGL. 

Where necessitated by legislation and/or policy change, the Council will update its guidelines 

accordingly. 

6. Case law developments, legislative amendments and developments in the NCC’s 

processes or policies are reflected in the NCC’s information resources within 30 days 

(Corporate Plan 2017-18 and Program 1.1, 2017-18 Portfolio Budget Statements p269). 

Legislative and case law developments relating to the Council’s work 

On 18 October 2017, the CCA was amended by the Amendment Act. Amongst other things, 

the amendments included significant changes to the National Access Regime, including 

material changes to the declaration criteria in Part IIIA of the CCA. The Amendment Act also 

included changes to the certification framework (e.g. a new mechanism to enable the 

Commonwealth Minister to revoke a certification).  

Following the commencement of these legislative changes on 6 November 2017, the Council 

updated its Declaration of Services Guide and Certification of State and Territory Access 

Regime Guide. These guides were published on the Council’s website in December 2017, 

within the performance target of 30 days. 

Shipping Channel Services at the Port of Newcastle 

In August 2017, the Full Federal Court handed down its judgement to dismiss the judicial 

review proceedings brought by PNO (and which the Council obtained leave to intervene) in 

relation to a decision by the Australian Competition Tribunal to declare shipping channel 

services at the Port of Newcastle: Port of Newcastle Operations Pty Ltd v Australian 

Competition Tribunal [2017] FCAFC 124. 
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On 12 September 2017, PNO applied for, and the Council obtained leave to intervene in, an 

application to the High Court for special leave to appeal the Full Court’s decision. The 

application was dismissed by the High Court on 23 March 2018. 

Following the outcome of the special leave application, the Council made minor updates to 

its Declaration of Services Guide. The updated guide was published on the Council’s website 

in April 2018, within the performance target of 30 days. 

The decision of the Full Federal Court, in relation to the interpretation of declaration criterion 

(a) as it was then worded, may affect the future application of coverage criteria under the 

NGL and State and Territory access regimes modelled on the original declaration criteria in 

Part IIIA.  

Gas pipeline reform and policy reviews 

As noted in preceding sections of this report, while there have been recent reforms and 

policy reviews in relation to the regulation of gas pipelines, at this time there is no policy 

decision to change the coverage criteria or any other mechanisms administered by the 

Council under the NGL. The Council intends to follow the scheduled review of the Part 23 

regime in 2019, including review of any matters related to the Council’s areas of responsibility 

under the NGL. Where necessitated by legislation and/or policy change, the Council will 

update its guidelines accordingly. 

Developments in Council’s policies 

During 2017-18 the Council updated its risk management plan and fraud control plan, 

consistent with the requirements of the PGPA Act and rules made under the PGPA Act.  

The updated policies were published on the Council’s Intranet page within 30 days following 

approval by the Accountable Authority, and on the previous advice of the Audit Committee 

(in April 2018).   

The Council’s information resources  

The Council’s other information resources remain up to date, and are expected to remain so 

until such time as legislative or other change is brought into legal effect. 

7. NCC’s annual report to the Parliament includes a comprehensive report that 

meets the requirements of section 29O of the CCA and is provided within the 

timeframe required by the PGPA Act 

(Corporate Plan 2017-18 and Program 1.1, 2017-18 Portfolio Budget Statements p269). 

Section 29O of the CCA requires the Council to report on various matters relating to the 

operation of the National Access Regime. The Council’s 2017-18 response on those matters 

follows below. 
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The Council’s performance in meeting legislative timeframes 

The time taken for the Council to make its recommendations are set out in Table 2-3.   

Court or Tribunal decisions interpreting the definition of ‘service’ or the declaration 

criteria 

There were no decisions addressing the definition of ‘service’ in Part IIIA of the CCA handed 

down during 2017-18. 

The Full Federal Court’s decision in Port of Newcastle Operations Pty Ltd v Australian 

Competition Tribunal [2017] FCAFC 124 – as detailed above – interpreted the pre-amended 

declaration criterion (a) in s 44H(4) and s 44G(2) of the CCA (now reformulated as s 

44CA(1)(a)). The criterion was subsequently considered by the High Court when dismissing 

PNO’s application for special leave to appeal the Full Court’s decision.  

While these Full Court decisions will not affect future declaration decisions under Part IIIA of 

the CCA, they may continue to have implications for future decisions relating to coverage of 

gas pipelines under the NGL and State or Territory access regimes modelled on the original 

declaration criteria in Part IIIA of the CCA.  

Impediments to the operation of Part IIIA  

The Council is not aware of any material impediments to the operation of Part IIIA arising 

during 2017-18.  

The amendments to criterion (a) ensure the focus of this criterion is on considering the 

impact of access or increased access “on reasonable terms and conditions as a result of the 

declaration” on competition in other markets. The Council considers this criterion requires a 

comparison of access under two scenarios: one in which declaration is made and access (or 

increased access) to the service is available on reasonable terms and conditions, and one in 

which no declaration is made.  

Notably, this approach to consideration of criterion (a) contrasts with the previous 

approaches taken in the Full Federal Court decisions in Sydney Airport Corporation Ltd v 

Australian Competition Tribunal and Others (2006) 155 FCR 124 and Port of Newcastle 

Operations Pty Ltd v Australia Competition Tribunal [2017] FCAFC 124.  

The amendments to criterion (b) have clarified that the test imposed under this criterion is a 

natural monopoly test, not a private profitability test as previously established by the High 

Court in The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd v Australian Competition Tribunal [2012] HCA 36.  

As detailed in previous annual reports, the Council welcomes these amendments, in line with 

the recommendations of the Productivity Commission, as the Council considers them 

(amongst other amendments to Part IIIA) to be critical to the operation and effectiveness of 

the National Access Regime.  
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However, the Council is also cognisant that the amendments to Part IIIA have not been 

reflected in the NGL, the principles for certifying an access regime as effective,6 and 

potentially other State or Territory access regimes modelled on the original Part IIIA 

provisions.7   

As discussed in the section below titled ”implications for the future operation of Part IIIA”, the 

Council considers that similar amendments should be made in other regimes to follow the 

amendments to Part IIIA, in order to prevent the potential for divergence to arise in the 

approach to access regulation across regimes or industries.  

Evidence of benefits from the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission’s 

arbitration determinations 

In November 2016, the ACCC commenced arbitration of an access dispute in relation to the 

declared shipping channel service at the Port of Newcastle. At the end of 2017-18, the 

arbitration is still ongoing and the ACCC has not made or published any arbitration 

determinations in relation to that matter. 

Evidence on the costs of, or disincentives for, investment in infrastructure by which 

declared services are provided 

The Council considers there is no substantial new evidence arising in the reporting period 

that bears directly on the issue. 

                                                           
6  While clause 6(3)(a) principles in the CPA still apply at present (as the CPA has not been replaced 

by the IGA), the Council has stated in its Certification of State and Territory Access Regime Guide 

that it will interpret the clause 6(3)(a) principles in the CPA in a manner consistent with the 

amended declaration criteria as far as possible, while recognising the differences in wording.  

7  The Queensland access regime is an exception. In March 2018 the Queensland Government 

amended the Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997 (Qld) (QCA Act) to ensure that the 

‘access criteria’ in s 76 of the QCA Act, which govern access to services in Part 5 of the QCA Act, 

are consistent with the amended declaration criteria in Part IIIA.  
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Table 2-3 The Council’s third party access work in 2017-18: status at 30 June 2018  

Subject of the application Applicant Date of application Date of Council final 
recommendation / 
determination (time taken8) 

Date of Minister’s decision, days elapsed since 
final recommendation, any subsequent events  

Shipping channel services at 
the Port of Newcastle 

Glencore Coal Pty Ltd 13 May 2015 2 November 2015 (167 days: 
the clock was stopped under 
s 44GA(3) for 14 days) 

8 January 2016. On 29 January 2016 Glencore 
Coal Pty Limited applied to the Tribunal for a 
review of the Acting Treasurer's decision not to 
declare the shipping channel service at the Port 
of Newcastle. On 31 May 2016 the Tribunal 
decided the service should be declared. The 
Tribunal published its orders giving effect to 
that decision on 16 June 2016. PNO applied for 
(and the Council obtained leave to intervene in 
relation to) judicial review of the Tribunal’s 
decision on 14 July 2016. On 16 August 2017 
the Federal Court handed down its judgment in 
the matter, deciding to dismiss the application 
for judicial review. On 12 September 2017, Port 
of Newcastle Operations Pty Ltd applied for 
(and the Council obtained leave to intervene in 
relation to) special leave to the High Court of 
Australia to appeal the Full Court’s decision. 
The application was dismissed by the High 
Court on 23 March 2018. 

                                                           
8  Elapsed time for matters under Part IIIA of the CCA is measured in calendar days. For matters under the NGL the measure is business days. 
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Implications for the future operation of Part IIIA 

The Council considers that the National Access Regime offers substantial benefit by providing 

a legal framework for third parties to gain access to the services provided by nationally 

significant infrastructure that cannot be economically duplicated, where access is required by 

third parties in order to compete effectively in a dependent market.  

The National Access Regime, and the declaration criteria that underpin its operation, seek to 

appropriately balance the public interest in the promotion of competition in a dependent 

market and in ensuring appropriate investment incentives. As recognised by both the 

Productivity Commission and the Competition Policy Review, access regulation under Part IIIA 

can entail substantial costs, and as such the scope of the Regime should be confined and its 

use limited to exceptional cases where the benefits arising from increased competition in 

dependent markets are likely to outweigh the costs of regulated access.9  

In addition, the Regime provides an overarching framework and guiding principles to 

encourage a consistent approach to access regulation, and operates as a model and ‘back 

stop’ to many industry-specific access regimes. This includes access regimes implemented 

through access undertakings accepted under Part IIIA, and access regimes implemented 

under states and territory laws and certified as effective under Part IIIA.10 

Notwithstanding this, the Council considers that the benefits noted above could be curtailed 

if the recent amendments to Part IIIA are not mirrored in the principles for certifying an 

access regime as effective, or in other access regimes modelled on the original Part IIIA 

provisions, including the regime for regulating access to gas pipelines under the NGL. If 

equivalent amendments are not made in those regimes, this may increase the prospect of 

divergent and potentially inconsistent approaches being taken to regulating access to 

infrastructure services across different regimes or industries, undermining the intended 

benefits and consistency objective of Part IIIA.  

Certification 

Currently, there is difference in wording between the principles in clause 6(3)(a) of the CPA 

and the declaration criteria in Part IIIA of the CCA. The 2017 amendments to Part IIIA have 

resulted in yet further divergence in the wording.  

Both the Productivity Commission and the Competition Policy Review recommended 

updating the principles in clause 6(3)(a) of the CPA to align with the revised declaration 

criteria.  

While the IGA was intended by COAG Council as a successor policy to the CPA, including by 

updating the wording of the principles for certifying State and Territory access regimes to be 

                                                           
9  In recommending changes to the declaration criteria in Part IIIA of the CCA, the Productivity 

Commission noted, “renewed emphasis should be given to ensuring that the Regime better 

targets the economic problem to reduce the risk of imposing unnecessary costs on the 

community and deterring investment in markets for infrastructure services for little gain” (p. 10, 

Final Report).  

10  Competition Policy Review, Final Report, March 2015, p. 430.  
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consistent with the amended declaration criteria in Part IIIA, as at the end of June 2018 the 

IGA has not been agreed by all heads of government and the principles in clause 6(3)(a) of 

the CPA continue to have effect. 

Despite those principles in the CPA and the amended declaration criteria in Part IIIA now 

being in substantially different terms, the Council has indicated in its Certification of State and 

Territory Access Regime Guide that it intends to interpret them in broadly the same manner, 

as far as possible.11  

Coverage criteria under the NGL 

For many years, the regime governing access to natural gas pipelines under the NGL had 

maintained broad consistency with the National Access Regime. The coverage criteria were 

previously near identical to the declaration criteria; and the Council, Tribunal and the Courts 

used to draw on declaration decisions under Part IIIA in considering similar issues for 

coverage decisions under the NGL, and vice versa. 

However, due to the 2017 amendments to the declaration criteria, there is now notable 

difference between the wording of the declaration criteria and the coverage criteria. The 

divergence could require the Council (and the relevant Minister) to apply different 

approaches when considering recommendations (and decisions) concerning declaration and 

coverage.  

In particular, as the coverage criteria still reflect the language of the previous declaration 

criteria, the interpretation of the old declaration criterion (a) (arising in the decisions of the 

Full Federal Court in Sydney Airport and Port of Newcastle), and interpretation of the old 

declaration criterion (b) (arising from the High Court decision in Pilbara HCA), could continue 

to prevail, affecting future decisions relating to coverage of pipelines under the NGL.   

To lessen the likelihood of inconsistent approaches from arising, the Council urges that 

consideration be given by the COAG Energy Council to align the coverage criteria to the now-

amended declaration criteria.  

However, against this backdrop, the Council is also mindful of the recent reform to the 

regulation of gas pipelines introduced by the Part 23 regime; and proposal from the AEMC to 

undertake a further review in 2019 of the overarching regulatory regime, including the 

coverage criteria and the process for determining the forms of regulation, in part 

administered by the Council. 

Without getting ahead of the future review (in which the Council intends to participate and 

provide further comments in due course), the Council notes its reservations and concerns 

regarding any considerations to potentially lower the threshold of the coverage criteria, or 

bypass the coverage criteria.  

                                                           
11  As stated in paragraph 4.12 of the Guide, “given that certification of an access regime displaces 

the availability of declaration of the services covered by the access regime and noting the 

requirement that the clause 6 principles are guidelines rather than binding rules, the Council 

considers it appropriate to interpret the clause 6(3)(a) principles as far as possible in a manner 

consistent with the declaration criteria, while recognising the differences in wording.” 
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The Council considers that access regulation has substantial costs, and should not be imposed 

by simply ‘deeming’ particular service as declared (or covered). The intention of the National 

Access Regime was that access regulation should only be imposed where it could be 

demonstrated, through satisfaction of each of the declaration (or coverage) criteria, that 

regulation would be necessary, effective and in the public interest, such that the benefits 

arising from increased competition in dependent markets are likely to outweigh the costs of 

regulated access. Where the declaration (or coverage) process is bypassed there is no 

reasonable certainty and it cannot be assumed that access regulation would be beneficial.  

Analysis of performance against the purpose 

In the Council’s view it met all the key performance indicators for its purpose during 2017-18. 

The Council’s performance in meeting its key performance indicators (set out in the Treasury 

Portfolio Budget Statements and Corporate Plan 2017-18) is summarised in Table 2-4.  
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Table 2-4 Summary of National Competition Council output performance indicators and performance 2017-18 

Key performance indicator 2017-18 target Outcome 

Recommendations on declaration applications 
made within statutory time limits 
(consideration period of 180 days) and meet 
advice requirements of Ministers.  

Recommendations are made within 180 days.  

Recommendations meet the advice 
requirements of decision making Ministers. 

Not applicable – the Council did not consider any declaration 
applications during 2017-18.  

Recommendations on certification applications 
made within statutory time limits 
(consideration period of 180 days) and meet 
advice requirements of Ministers. 

Recommendations on applications are made 
within 180 days. 

Recommendations meet the advice 
requirements of decision making Ministers. 

Not applicable – the Council did not consider any certification 
applications during 2017-18. 

 

Recommendations and decisions under the 
NGL made within specified time limits and 
recommendations under the NGL meet the 
advice requirements of Ministers.  

Recommendations and decisions are made 
within statutory time limits.  

Recommendations meet the advice 
requirements of decision making Ministers. 

Not applicable – the Council did not consider any matters under 
the NGL during 2017-18. 

 

Accessible information on all access regulation 
matters for which the NCC is responsible is 
provided on the NCC website. 

Council website holds all documents relevant to 
the Council’s functions. 

 

The Council’s website is up to date.  

 

Up to date and informative guidelines on all the 
NCC’s areas of responsibility are maintained on 
the NCC website.  

Guides to all aspects of the National Access 
Regime and the Council’s responsibilities under 
the NGL are available. 

Guides are updated within 30 days of relevant 
decisions or developments in case law. 

Guides to declaration and certification and all Council functions 
under the NGL are available on the Council’s website. 

Case law developments, legislative 
amendments and developments in the NCC’s 
processes or policies are reflected in the NCC’s 
information resources within 30 days.  

Case law developments, legislative 
amendments and developments in Council 
processes or policies are reflected in Council 
information resources within 30 days. 

On 18 October 2017, the CCA was amended by the Competition 
and Consumer Amendment (Competition Policy Review) Act 
2017 following recommendations from the 2015 Competition 
Policy Review. The amendments to the CCA include changes to 
the National Third Party Access Regime to better target the lack 
of competition in markets for infrastructure services where third 
party access is required. These amendments came into effect on 
6 November 2017. As a result of the legislative changes to Part 
IIIA, the Council updated its Declaration of Services Guide and 
Certification of State and Territory Access Regime Guide. 



Annual Report 2017-18 

Page 22 

Key performance indicator 2017-18 target Outcome 

The NCC’s annual report to the Parliament 
includes a comprehensive report that meets 
the requirements of s29O of the CCA and is 
provided within the timeframe required by the 
PGPA Act (i.e. by the 15th day of the fourth 
month after the end of the reporting period). 

The Council annual report provides 
comprehensive information on the National 
Access Regime and NGL, addresses all matters 
required under section 29O of the CCA and is 
provided within the required timeframe. 

The Council will provide its 2017-18 Annual Report to the 
Treasurer by 15 October 2018. 

The Council’s Annual Report will include a report on the National 
Access Regime as required by the CCA. 
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3 Governance and organisation 

About the National Competition Council 

Role and functions 

The National Competition Council (Council) is a Commonwealth statutory agency established 

by section 29A of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (CCA).  The Council was created in 

1995 following agreement by the Council of Australian Governments, and is an independent 

research and advisory body for all Australian governments. Its functions and powers are set 

out in section 29B of the CCA.  

The Council makes recommendations on applications for third party access to services 

provided by monopoly infrastructure under the National Access Regime in Part IIIA of the CCA 

and recommendations and decisions on applications made under the National Gas Law 

(NGL).12  

While the Government initially announced in the 2017-18 Commonwealth Budget new 

funding for the NCC to 

1. support the implementation of the Intergovernmental Agreement on 

Competition and Productivity-Enhancing Reforms, announced by COAG on 9 

December 2016, and 

2. assist with the implementation and assessment of state and territory 

performance under a new National Housing and Homelessness Agreement, 

those new measures were subsequently unwound in the Government’s Mid-Year Economic 

and Fiscal Outlook (released in December 2017). As a result, there are no material changes 

expected to the Council’s roles and responsibilities in the near term. 

Vision, purpose and mission  

The Council’s vision is to help achieve outcomes that benefit the community as a whole by 

providing objective and constructive advice to governments. This incorporates building 

business and community understanding of third party access regulation. 

The Council’s purpose is to: 

 make recommendations under the National Access Regime in Part IIIA of the 

CCA, to relevant ministers in relation to applications for the declaration of 

services and also the certification of state or territory access regimes, and  

 make recommendations on the coverage of natural gas pipeline systems and 

decisions on the form of regulation (light or full), classification of pipelines 

(transmission or distribution) and recommending in relation to various 

exemptions for greenfields gas pipelines (Outcome 1) 

                                                           
12  The Council’s third party access work is discussed in chapter 2. 

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/tpa1974149/s29b.html
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Both the National Access Regime and the NGL seek to promote the efficient operation of, use 

of, and investment in significant bottleneck infrastructure, and to promote competition, 

efficiency and productivity in markets that depend on the use of services provided by 

significant bottleneck infrastructure facilities.  This facilitates economic growth, employment 

growth, efficient resource use and improved social outcomes for all Australians.  

The Council’s vision is embodied in its mission: ‘To improve the wellbeing of all Australians 

through growth, innovation and rising productivity, by promoting competition that is in the 

public interest’. 

The Council’s Corporate Plan 2017-18, published in August 2017, is available on the Council’s 

website.  

Outcome and program 

The Council has a single outcome with one contributing program. The Council’s outcome is 

competition in markets that are dependent on access to nationally significant monopoly 

infrastructure, through recommendations and decisions promoting the efficient operation of, 

use of and investment in infrastructure.  

The Council’s program objective is to provide advice to governments and make decisions on 

infrastructure access issues that accord with statutory requirements (including time limits) 

and good regulatory practice, and ensuring that advice meets requirements of decision 

making ministers, such that Australia achieves a consistent approach to access regulation that 

promotes the efficient operation of, use of and investment in infrastructure thereby 

promoting effective competition. 

The indicators for assessing the Council’s performance along with the targets and summary 

information on the Council’s work in 2017-18 against those targets are set out in chapter 2 of 

this annual report (see Table 2-4). Chapter 2 also contains the Council’s report to the 

Australian Parliament on the operation of the National Access Regime, which is required 

under section 29O of the CCA. 

Summary analysis of financial performance  

The Australian Government funds the Council through budget appropriations. The Council 

received $1.992 million (excluding Departmental Capital Budget) in 2017-18 ($1.727 million in 

2016-17).  

The Council achieved an operating surplus of $985 500 in 2017-18 (surplus of $649 900 in 

2016-17).  

The Council’s net assets as at 30 June 2018 were $3.929 million (compared to $3.658 million 

at 30 June 2017).  

Parties making applications under the NGL must pay a fee for applications regarding the 

access regulation (coverage) of natural gas pipelines and decisions on the classification of 
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pipelines.13 The fee is $7 500 per coverage application and $2 000 per classification 

application. Any application fees are remitted to the Official Public Account.  

The Council received no application fees in 2017-18.  

Table 3-1 summarises the financial resources used by the Council in 2017-1814 while Table 3-2 

provides a summary of the resources used by the Council in performing its outcome in 2017-

18 showing the variation against budget. The variation arose primarily because of lower than 

anticipated spending on legal and economic advisory services. 

Table 3-1 National Competition Council resource statement 2017-18 

 Available 
appropriations 

($’000) 

Payments made 

($’000) 

Balance 
remaining 

($’000) 

Agency appropriations     

Prior year appropriation 3 37915 1 007 2 372 

Current year appropriation 1 992 - 1 992 

Total appropriation available 5 371 1 007 4 36416 

Source: Portfolio Budget Statements 2017-18 and Financial Statements 2017-18. 

Table 3-2 Expense for outcome 1 for 2017-18 

 Budget  

$’000 

Actual expenses 

$’000 

Variation 

$’000 

Program 1.1─National Competition Council  

Departmental outputs funded by appropriations 1 992 1 007 985 

Average staffing level    

Source: Portfolio Budget Statements 2017-18 and Financial Statements 2017-18 

Corporate governance 

The Council’s governance framework establishes accountability and decision making 

processes to effectively and efficiently manage its resources and allocate those resources to 

its statutory priorities. The Council has embraced the management, accountability, financial 

and employment arrangements applicable to government agencies. 

The Council is responsible for its activities, consistent with the requirements of the CCA, with 

decisions being made at Council meetings. 

The Council is accountable for its decisions through the courts, the Australian Competition 

Tribunal, the Parliament and the Commonwealth Ombudsman. 

                                                           
13  No fees are payable in relation to applications for light regulation. 

14  See also the audited Financial Statements for 2017-18 (Chapter 4). 

15  Amount includes $47 274 cash at bank balance in 2016-17. 

16   Amount includes $48 928 cash at bank balance in 2017-18. 
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National Competition Council structure 

The Council comprises the President and up to four other councillors appointed by the 

Governor-General, with appointments supported by a majority of state and territory 

governments. Part IIA of the CCA specifies the processes for appointing councillors, 

conducting Council meetings and disclosing interests by councillors.  

Council membership 

During 2017-18, the Council comprised three councillors, including a President (see Box 3-1).  

Councillors are drawn from across Australia and different industry and community sectors to 

provide a range of skills and experience. They endorse the operating policies of the Council, 

and consider, review and approve all of the Council’s recommendations and major 

publications before release. The councillors also oversee the Council’s operations and provide 

financial oversight. 

Box 3-1 Councillors’ profiles  

Julie-Anne Schafer – President   

Ms Julie-Anne Schafer is the President of the National Competition Council. Ms Schafer was 

appointed for a period of three years from 18 December 2015. 

Ms Schafer has 25 years of experience as a partner in the legal services sector. She has 

served on advisory committees for the law faculties of several universities in Queensland. 

She was also the Deputy Chancellor of the Queensland University of Technology. She has 

over 15 years of directorship experience in diverse and highly regulated sectors, including 

energy, road and rail transport. 

Ms Schafer has a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and is a Fellow of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors. 

Linda Evans 

Ms Linda Evans was an NCC Councillor from July 2013 to December 2017. Ms Evans is an 

experienced lawyer with particular expertise in competition law and regulatory issues. She 

has experience acting for the private sector, government and industry bodies across a range 

of network industries. 

Ms Evans is a partner in Clayton Utz based in Sydney and has been a board member and 

former chair of the board at Clayton Utz. She is a non-executive director of Watpac Limited 

and Cycling Australia Limited. She is also on the editorial boards of Competition Law 

International and the Journal of the Antitrust Committee of the International Bar 

Association. 

Ms Evans has served on the ABA Antitrust Section International Task Force, on the faculty of 

various ABA/IBA International Cartel Workshops, the Law Council of Australia, Federal Court 
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Liaison Committee and was Co-Chair, Power Law Committee of the International Bar 
Association, 2009-2010. 

Ms Evans has a Bachelor of Jurisprudence and a Bachelor of Laws, both from the University 
of Western Australia, and is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Chris Jose 

Mr Chris Jose was appointed to the Council for a period of three years from 18 December 
2017. 

Mr Jose brings more than 30 years of experience in competition law in government and in 
private legal practice. After a number of years as a barrister specialising in competition and 
market regulation, for 15 years from 2002 Mr Jose was a partner at Herbert Smith Freehills 
in competition and market regulation advising his corporate and government clients on a 
broad range of matters in competition and consumer law and infrastructure regulation.  He 
has advised many clients in regulated sectors including in electricity distribution, gas 
pipelines, airports, ports and rail transport. In May 2018 he was appointed as a full time 
member of the Australian Communications and Media Authority. 

Mr Jose holds a Diploma of Law (University of Sydney) and a Master of Business 
Administration from the University of Melbourne. 

Martin Wallace 

Mr Martin Wallace was appointed to the Council for a period of three years from 18 
December 2015. 

Mr Wallace was previously the Secretary of the Tasmania Department of Treasury and 
Finance. He has extensive experience in public administration, regulatory policy and 
business and financial management as well as senior executive experience in the energy and 
telecommunications sectors. He is an experienced board member, including past roles with 
Aurora Energy Pty Ltd, the Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation, Tastel Limited and the 
Governing Council of the Tasmanian Health Service. 

Mr Wallace has a Bachelor of Economics (Honours) degree. 

National Competition Council meetings 

Table 3.3 provides the dates, form of and attendance at each Council meeting in 2017-18.  

Table 3-3 National Competition Council meetings, 2017-18 

Meeting date Form of meeting Attendance 

25 August 2017* In person meeting All councillors 

25 September 2017 Telephone conference All councillors 

26 September 2017 Telephone conference All councillors 

16 November 2017* Telephone conference All councillors 

22 February 2018* In person meeting All councillors 

22 March 2018 Telephone conference All councillors 

8 May 2018* Telephone conference All councillors 

* Indicates prescheduled meetings, other meetings are held as required to consider specific decisions. 
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As a general principle the Council takes decisions during in person meetings and/or a 

teleconference, these being environments in which Councillors can discuss matters and make 

decisions collectively. 

The CCA also permits the Council to adopt decisions by circulation of papers. The Council 

does this where such a course enables timely decision making and where unanimous 

agreement is anticipated, or where a matter has been the subject of previous consideration 

in a meeting. During 2017-18 no decisions were made by circular resolution.  

As well as chairing meetings of the Council, the President is also the Head of Agency for the 

purposes of ensuring the Council’s compliance with the Public Governance, Performance and 

Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act) and other Australian Public Service requirements. During 

2017-18 the President conducted regular telephone discussions with the Executive Director 

on the Council’s work.  

Secretariat support for the Council 

On 1 July 2014 the Council replaced its staff secretariat with an arrangement under which the 

Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC) provides the Council with 

secretariat services. Therefore, the Council no longer employs staff directly.  Staff and other 

support for the Council’s operations are provided by the ACCC under a secretariat services 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU).  

As the Council did not have any staff during the 2017-18 financial year, it has no staffing 

statistics to report in relation to gender, APS classification, employment status (ongoing/non 

ongoing, full-time/part-time), location or Indigenous status of employees for the period.  

Council remuneration 

Employee benefits (including superannuation contributions) paid to councillors in 2017-18 

totalled $81 380.  

Remuneration arrangements for the Council are set by the Remuneration Tribunal. Since 

1 November 2014 the basis on which the Council is remunerated has been a combination of 

an annual fee and a daily fee which applies when the Council is called on to consider 

applications outside scheduled meetings. 

The Council does not operate performance pay arrangements. 

Freedom of information 

Agencies subject to the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) are required to publish 

information to the public as part of the Information Publication Scheme (IPS). This 

requirement is in Part II of the FOI Act and has replaced the former requirement to publish a 

section 8 statement in an annual report. Each agency must display on its website a plan 

showing what information it publishes in accordance with the IPS requirements. The Council 

has published a plan and all required information on its website at www.ncc.gov.au.  
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Changes to disability reporting in annual reports 

Since 1994, Commonwealth departments and agencies have reported on their performance 

as policy adviser, purchaser, employer, regulator and provider under the Commonwealth 

Disability Strategy. In 2007-08, reporting on the employer role was transferred to the 

Australian Public Service Commission’s State of the Service Report and the APS Statistical 

Bulletin. These reports are available at www.apsc.gov.au. From 2010-11, departments and 

agencies have no longer been required to report on these functions.  

The Commonwealth Disability Strategy has been overtaken by the National Disability Strategy 

2010-2020, which sets out a ten year national policy framework to improve the lives of 

people with disability, promote participation and create a more inclusive society. A high level 

two-yearly report will track progress against each of the six outcome areas of the Strategy 

and present a picture of how people with disability are faring. The first of these reports was 

presented to the Council of Australian Governments in 2015, and can be found at 

www.dss.gov.au. 

Internal and external scrutiny 

Internal scrutiny is undertaken via regular meetings of councillors (see above) and through 

the Council’s Audit Committee (Audit Committee).  

Mechanisms for external scrutiny include: formal reviews of the National Access Regime and 

the NGL, and the role of the Council; legal mechanisms (courts and tribunals) for reviewing 

Ministers’ decisions arising from Council recommendations; and the Commonwealth 

Ombudsman. The Council is subject to external scrutiny more generally through its published 

recommendations to governments and through its processes for engaging with stakeholders. 

Audit Committee 

The functions of the Council’s Audit Committee are to review and report to the Council on the 

appropriateness of the Council’s financial reporting, performance reporting, risk oversight 

and management, and systems of internal control. In the year under review, the Audit 

Committee comprised Councillor Linda Evans (Chair, until December 2017) and Councillor 

Martin Wallace (Chair, from January 2018) and independent members Chris Ramsden (Chief 

Operations Officer, Clean Energy Regulator) and Philip Mason (Assistant Secretary, 

Department of Communications).  

The Audit Committee met on two occasions during 2017-18. On 24 August 2017 the 

committee considered and recommended that the Council adopt the audited financial 

statements for 2016-17.  The committee received a report from the Australian National Audit 

Office (ANAO) in relation to its audit of these financial statements.   

In April 2018 the committee considered the financial audit process for 2017-18, and reviewed 

the Council’s performance against its risk management plan and fraud control plan. 
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Legal mechanisms for reviewing National Competition Council decisions 

Under both Part IIIA of the CCA and the NGL, an applicant or service provider may seek 

review of decisions (made in response to a recommendation from the Council) by the 

designated Commonwealth Minister or a state premier or a territory chief minister. The 

Australian Competition Tribunal is the review body for decisions on declaration, certification 

and coverage/revocation of coverage except that under the NGL, the review body in Western 

Australia is the Western Australian Gas Review Board.  

Chapter 2 reports on the Council’s work relating to Part IIIA and the NGL, including any review 

proceedings. 

Engagement with stakeholders  

The Council’s third party access work requires it to engage with interested parties through a 

public consultation process. The Council maintains a website to assist this purpose. The 

Council’s actions to assist stakeholders are discussed in chapter 2. 

Financial management 

The Council’s financial management was undertaken on a sound basis involving budget 

setting, variance analysis and reporting for the organisation as a whole. Financial monitoring 

and reporting against budget occurred on a monthly basis, and involved all councillors 

considering a financial report. 

The Council worked with the Treasury, the Department of Finance, the ACCC (as the 

outsourced provider of financial and secretariat services) and the ANAO as key stakeholders 

to ensure that financial performance aligns with expectations. The Council sought and 

obtained from the ACCC a statement as to the ACCC’s appropriate management of the 

Council’s finances in 2017-18. 

The Council received audit clearance of its financial statements from the ANAO on 27 August 

2018. The ANAO issued an unqualified audit report. 

There were no instances of significant non-compliance with finance laws related to the 

Council during 2017-18. 

Asset management and Purchasing 

The limited asset management and purchasing required by the Council is undertaken by the 

ACCC under the secretariat services MOU discussed earlier in this report.  

The Council supports small business participation in the Commonwealth Government 

procurement market. Small and Medium Enterprises and Small Enterprise participation 

statistics are available on the Department of Finance’s website. 
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Risk management, fraud control and other policies 

As part of the secretariat services arrangements the Council relies upon the risk oversight and 

management principles and systems put in place by the ACCC to meet Commonwealth 

requirements including in relation to: 

 Risk Management 

 Budget estimates under the PGPA Act 

 Annual financial statements under the PGPA Act 

 Fraud control & fraud risk assessment under the PGPA Act 

 Procurement under the PGPA Act 

 Commonwealth Protective Security Policy Framework 

 Reporting under the Legal Services Directions 2005 and Freedom of 

Information Act 1982 

 Workplace Health and Safety 

 Workplace Diversity 

 Strategic Workforce Plan 2018–21 

Some minor modifications to standard ACCC processes are made, as required, to make them 

fit for purpose for the Council. 

Risk management for the Council is considered by the Council at regular meetings.  

The Council also has in place a fraud control plan which takes into account the 

Commonwealth Fraud Control Framework. There were no instances of fraud or allegations of 

fraud in 2017-18.  

Certificate of Fraud Measures 

I certify that, as at 30 June 2018, the National Competition Council (NCC) had completed its 

fraud risk assessments and a fraud control plan. I certify that the NCC has in place 

appropriate fraud prevention, detection, investigation, management, and recording and 

reporting  procedures and processes that meet the specific needs of the agency.  The NCC has 

taken all reasonable measures to deal with appropriately and minimise the incidence of fraud 

in the agency.  

 
Julie-Anne Schafer 

President 
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Advertising and market research 

During 2017-18, the Council made no payments for advertising.  

The Council made no payments during 2017-18 to advertising agencies, market research 

organisations, polling organisations, direct mail organisations or advertising agencies that 

place government advertising in the media. The Council did not conduct any advertising 

campaigns. 

Grants  

The Council provided no grants during the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018. 

Consultants and specialists 

The Council engages consultants and purchases specialist services where the requisite skills 

for a task are not available within the Council or ACCC.  

The Council purchases legal and economic advice services as required to assist its work under 

Part IIIA of the CCA, procuring these services through the whole-of-government Legal 

Services Multi-Use List. In 2017-18, the Council had one ongoing contract and entered one 

new contract for the purchase of legal advice services.  

During 2017-18, one new consultancy contract was entered into involving total actual 

expenditure of $2 623 (including GST). In addition, one ongoing consultancy contract was 

active during the period, involving total actual expenditure of $60 143 (including GST). 

Summary information on the Council’s expenditure on consultant and specialist services in 

2017-18, providing a comparison with the preceding two financial years, is provided in Table 

3-4.  

Table 3-4 Summary of expenditure on all consultant and specialist services in 2015-16, 

2016-17 and 2017-18 ($) (GST inclusive) 

 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

Communications (new) 44 628 - - 

Communications (ongoing) - - - 

ICT (new) - - - 

ICT (ongoing) - - - 

Legal (new) 88 854 11 000 2 623 

Legal (ongoing) 16 001 204 764 60 143 

Total 149 483 215 764 62 766 

Annual reports contain information about actual expenditure on contracts for consultancies. 

Information on the value of contracts and consultancies is available on the AusTender 

website. 
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Annual report list of requirements  

The following list shows this report’s compliance with the requirements for annual reports for 

non-corporate Commonwealth entities for the 2017-18 reporting period. 

PGPA Rule 

Reference 

Part of 

report 

Description Requirement Page 

17AD(g) Letter of transmittal    

17AI  A copy of the letter of transmittal signed 

and dated by accountable authority on date 

final text approved, with statement that the 

report has been prepared in accordance 

with section 46 of the Act and any enabling 

legislation that specifies additional 

requirements in relation to the annual 

report. 

Mandatory iii 

17AD(h) Aids to access   

17AJ(a)  Table of contents Mandatory v-vi 

17AJ(b)  Alphabetical index Mandatory 63–64 

17AJ(c)  Glossary of abbreviations and acronyms Mandatory vii 

17AJ(d)  List of requirements Mandatory 33-39 

17AJ(e)  Details of contact officer Mandatory ii 

17AJ(f)  Entity’s website address Mandatory ii 

17AJ(g)  Electronic address of report Mandatory ii 

17AD(a) Review by accountable authority   

17AD(a)  A review by the accountable authority of 

the entity 

Mandatory 1–2 

17AD(b) Overview of the entity   

17AE(1)(a)(i)   A description of the role and functions of 

the entity. 

Mandatory 23–24 

17AE(1)(a)(ii

) 

 A description of the organisational structure 

of the entity. 

Mandatory 26–28 

17AE(1)(a)(ii

i) 

  A description of the outcomes and 

programmes administered by the entity. 

Mandatory 24 

17AE(1)(a)(i

v) 

  A description of the purposes of the entity 

as included in the corporate plan. 

Mandatory 23–24 

17AE(1)(b)  An outline of the structure of the portfolio 

of the entity. 

Portfolio 

departments 

– mandatory 

Not 

applicable 
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PGPA Rule 

Reference 

Part of 

report 

Description Requirement Page 

17AE(2)  Where the outcomes and programmes 

administered by the entity differ from any 

Portfolio Budget Statement, Portfolio 

Additional Estimates Statement or other 

portfolio estimates statements that was 

prepared for the entity for the period, 

include details of variation and reason for 

change. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

No 

variations 

17AD(c) Report on the Performance of the entity   

 Annual Performance Statements   

17AD(c)(i); 

16F 

 Annual performance statements in 

accordance with paragraph 39(1)(b) of the 

Act and section 16F of the Rule. 

Mandatory 10 

17AD(c)(ii) Report on Financial Performance   

17AF(1)(a)  A discussion and analysis of the entity’s 

financial performance 

Mandatory 24–25 

17AF(1)(b)  A table summarising the total resources and 

total payments of the entity 

Mandatory 25 

17AF(2)  If there may be significant changes in the 

financial results during or after the previous 

or current reporting period, information on 

those changes including: the cause of any 

operating loss of the entity; how the entity 

has responded to the loss and the actions 

that have been taken in relation to the loss; 

and any matter or circumstances that it can 

reasonably by anticipated will have a 

significant impact on the entity’s future 

operation or financial results. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

17AD(d) Management and Accountability   

 Corporate Governance   

17AG(2)(a)  Information on compliance with section 10 

(fraud systems) 

Mandatory 31 

17AG(2)(b)(i

) 

 A certification by the accountable authority 

that fraud risk assessment and fraud control 

plans have been prepared.   

Mandatory 31 
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PGPA Rule 

Reference 

Part of 

report 

Description Requirement Page 

17AG(2)(b)(i

i) 

 A certification by accountable authority that 

appropriate mechanisms for preventing, 

detecting incidents of, investigating or 

otherwise dealing with, and recording or 

reporting fraud that meet the specific needs 

of the entity are in place. 

Mandatory 31 

17AG(2)(b)(i

ii) 

 A certification by accountable authority that 

all reasonable measures have been taken to 

deal appropriately with fraud relating to the 

entity. 

Mandatory 31 

17AG(2)(c)  An outline of structures and processes in 

place for the entity to implement principles 

and objectives of corporate governance. 

Mandatory 25 

17AG(2)(d)-

(e) 

 A statement of significant issues reported to 

Minister under paragraph 19(1)(e) of the 

Act that relates to non-compliance with 

Finance laws and actions taken to remedy 

non-compliance. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

30 

 External scrutiny   

17AG(3)  Information on the most significant 

developments in external scrutiny and the 

entity’s response to the scrutiny. 

Mandatory 13–16 

17AG(3)(a)  Information on judicial decisions and 

decisions of administrative tribunals and by 

the Australian Information Commissioner 

that may have a significant effect on the 

operation of the entity. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

13–16 

17AG(3)(b)  Information on any reports on operations of 

the entity by the Auditor-General (other 

than report under section 43 of the Act), a 

Parliamentary Committee, or  the 

Commonwealth Ombudsman  

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

17AG(3)(c)  Information on any capability reviews on 

the entity that were released during the 

period. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

 Management of Human Resources   

17AG(4)(a)  An assessment of the entity’s effectiveness 

in managing and developing employees to 

achieve entity objectives. 

Mandatory 28 
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PGPA Rule 

Reference 

Part of 

report 

Description Requirement Page 

17AG(4)(b)  Statistics on the entity’s APS employees on 

an ongoing and non-ongoing basis; 

including the following: 

 Statistics on staffing classification level; 

 Statistics on full-time employees; 

 Statistics on part-time employees; 

 Statistics on gender; 

 Statistics on staff location; 

 Statistics on employees who identify as 

Indigenous. 

Mandatory 28 

17AG(4)(c)  Information on any enterprise agreements, 

individual flexibility arrangements, 

Australian workplace agreements, common 

law contracts and determinations under 

subsection 24(1) of the Public Service Act 

1999.  

Mandatory 28 

17AG(4)(c)(i

) 

 Information on the number of SES and non-

SES employees covered by agreements etc 

identified in paragraph 17AG(4)(c) 

Mandatory 28 

17AG(4)(c)(ii

) 

 The salary range available for APS 

employees by classification level. 

Mandatory 28 

17AG(4)(c)(ii

i) 

 A description of non-salary benefits 

provided to employees 

Mandatory 28 

17AG(4)(d)(i

) 

 Information on the number of employees at 

each classification level who received 

performance pay 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

17AG(4)(d)(i

i) 

 Information on aggregate amounts of 

performance pay at each classification level. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

17AG(4)(d)(i

ii) 

 Information on the average amounts of 

performance payment, and range of such 

payments, at each classification level. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

17AG(4)(d)(i

v) 

 Information on aggregate amount of 

performance payments. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

 Asset management   

17AG(5)  An assessment of effectiveness of asset 

management where asset management is a 

significant part of the entity’s activities. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory  

Not 

applicable 

 Purchasing   
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PGPA Rule 

Reference 

Part of 

report 

Description Requirement Page 

17AG(6)  An assessment of entity performance 

against the Commonwealth Procurement 

Rules. 

Mandatory 30 

 Consultants   

17AG(7)(a)  A summary statement detailing the number 

of new contracts engaging consultants 

entered into during the period; the total 

actual expenditure on all new consultancy 

contracts entered into during the period 

(inclusive of GST); the number of ongoing 

consultancy contracts that were entered 

into during previous report period; and the 

total actual expenditure in the reporting 

year on the ongoing consultancy contracts 

(inclusive of GST). 

Mandatory 32 

17AG(7)(b)  A statement that “During [reporting period], 

[specified number] new consultancy 

contracts were entered into involving total 

actual expenditure of $[specified million]. In 

addition, [specified number] ongoing 

consultancy contracts were active during 

the period, involving total actual 

expenditure of $[specified million]”. 

Mandatory 32 

17AG(7)(c)  A summary of the policies and procedures 

for selecting and engaging consultants and 

the main categories of purposes for which 

consultants were selected and engaged. 

Mandatory 32 

17AG(7)(d)  A statement that “Annual reports contain 

information about actual expenditure on 

contracts for consultancies. Information on 

the value of contracts and consultancies is 

available on the AusTender website.” 

Mandatory 32 

 Australian National Audit Office Access Clauses   

17AG(8)  If an entity entered into a contract with a 

value of more than $100 000 (inclusive of 

GST) and the contract did not provide the 

Auditor-General with access to the 

contractor’s premises, the report must 

include the name of the contractor, purpose 

and value of the contract, and the reason 

why a clause allowing access was not 

included in the contract.  

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 
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PGPA Rule 

Reference 

Part of 

report 

Description Requirement Page 

 Exempt contracts   

17AG(9)  If an entity entered into a contract or there 

is a standing offer with a value greater than 

$10 000 (inclusive of GST) which has been 

exempted from being published in 

AusTender because it would disclose 

exempt matters under the FOI Act, the 

annual report must include a statement that 

the contract or standing offer has been 

exempted, and the value of the contract or 

standing offer, to the extent that doing so 

does not disclose the exempt matter. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

 Small business   

17AG(10)(a)  A statement that “[Name of entity] supports 

small business participation in the 

Commonwealth Government procurement 

market. Small and Medium Enterprises 

(SME) and Small Enterprise participation 

statistics are available on the Department of 

Finance’s website.” 

Mandatory 30 

17AG(10)(b)  An outline of the ways in which the 

procurement practices of the entity support 

small and medium enterprises. 

Mandatory 30 

17AG(10)(c)  If the entity is considered by the 

Department administered by the Finance 

Minister as material in nature-a statement 

that “[Name of entity] recognises the 

importance of ensuring that small 

businesses are paid on time. The results of 

the Survey of Australian Government 

Payments to Small Business are available on 

the Treasury’s website.” 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

 Financial statements   

17AD(e)  Inclusion of the annual financial statements 

in accordance with subsection 43(4) of the 

Act 

Mandatory 41–60 
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PGPA Rule 

Reference 

Part of 

report 

Description Requirement Page 

17AD(f) Other Mandatory Information   

17AH(1)(a)

(i) 

 If the entity conducted advertising 

campaigns, a statement that “During 

[reporting period], the [name of entity] 

conducted the following advertising 

campaigns: [name of advertising campaigns 

undertaken]. Further information on those 

advertising campaigns is available at [address 

of entity’s website] and in the reports on 

Australian Government advertising prepared 

by the Department of Finance. Those reports 

are available on the Department of Finance’s 

website.”  

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

17AH(1)(a)

(ii) 

 If the entity did not conduct advertising 

campaigns, a statement to that effect. 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

32 

17AH(1)(b

) 

 A statement that “Information on grants 

awarded by [name of entity] during [reporting 

period] is available at [address of entity’s 

website].” 

If applicable, 

Mandatory 

Not 

applicable 

17AH(1)(c)  Outline of mechanisms of disability reporting, 

including reference to website for further 

information 

Mandatory 29 

17AH(1)(d

) 

 Website reference to where the entity’s 

Information Publication Scheme statement 

pursuant to Part II of FOI Act can be found. 

Mandatory 28 

17AH(1)(e

) 

 Correction of material errors in previous 

annual report 

Mandatory Not 

applicable 

17AH(2)  Information required by other legislation Mandatory 14–16 





 

Page 41 

4 Financial Statements 

 

 

 

 

Financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 



Annual Report 2017-18 

Page 42 

 

 



4 Financial statements 

Page 43 

  

  



Annual Report 2017-18 

Page 44 

NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
CONTENTS 

 

Certification 

 

Primary financial statement 

 Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 Statement of Financial Position 

 Statement of Changes in Equity 

 Cash Flow Statement 

 

Overview 

 

Notes to the financial statements: 

1. Departmental Financial Performance 

1.1. Expenses 

2. Departmental Financial Position 

2.1. Financial Assets 

2.2. Payables 

3. Funding 

3.1. Appropriations 

4. People and relationships 

4.1. Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

5. Managing uncertainties 

5.1. Financial Instruments 

6. Other information 

6.1. Budgetary Reporting 

  



4 Financial statements 

Page 45 

NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 

 

 

 

 

  



Annual Report 2017-18 

Page 46 

NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 

  

 

2018 2017   
Original 
Budget 

  Notes $ $   $ 

NET COST OF SERVICES      

Expenses      

Employee Benefits 1.1A  81,380  83,915   1,301,000  

Suppliers 1.1B  957,120  1,025,185   4,701,000  

Total expenses  1,038,500  1,109,100   6,002,000  

      
      
Own-Source Income      

      Own-source revenue      

Other Revenue      

Remuneration of Auditors  32,000  32,000   32,000  

Total own-source revenue  32,000  32,000   32,000  

      
Total own-source income  32,000  32,000   32,000  

Net (cost of) services  (1,006,500) (1,077,100)  (5,970,000) 

Revenue from Government      

Departmental Appropriation  1,992,000  1,727,000   5,970,000  

Surplus  985,500  649,900    - 

Total Comprehensive income  985,500  649,900    - 

 

 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

  

http://[s5l0];/#FPE1.1!$D$3
http://[s5l1];/#FPE1.1!$D$20
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2018 

 

  

 

2018 2017   
Original 
Budget 

  Notes $ $   $ 

ASSETS      

Financial assets      

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.1A  48,928  47,274   16,000  

Trade and Other Receivables 2.1B  3,668,188  3,397,551   3,058,000  

Total financial assets  3,717,116  3,444,825   3,074,000  

      

Non-financial assets      

Other Non-Financial Assets 

 

    

Prepayments*  213,118  215,276   3,000  

Total non-financial assets  213,118  215,276   3,000  

Total assets  3,930,234  3,660,101   3,077,000  

      

LIABILITIES      

Payables      

Suppliers 2.2A  27  1,902   37,000  

Other Payables 2.2B  743  635   - 

Total payables  770  2,537   37,000  

      

      
Total liabilities  770  2,537   37,000  

Net assets  3,929,464  3,657,564   3,040,000  

      
EQUITY      

Contributed equity  81,000  146,000   178,000  

Retained surplus  3,848,464  3,511,564   2,862,000  

Total equity  3,929,464  3,657,564   3,040,000  

 

*No indicators of impairment were found for other non-financial assets. 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

  

http://[s6l0];/#FPO3.1!$D$3
http://[s6l1];/#FPO3.1!$D$16
http://[s6l15];/#FPO3.3!$D$2
http://[s6l20];/#FPO3.3!$D$57
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the period ended 30 June 2018 

    2018 2017   
Original 
Budget 

    $ $   $ 

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY      

Opening balance      

Balance carried forward from previous period  146,000  178,000   178,000  

Adjusted opening balance   146,000  178,000   178,000  

      
Transactions with owners      

Returns of capital  (65,000) (32,000)   - 

Total transactions with owners   (65,000) (32,000)   - 

Closing balance as at 30 June   81,000  146,000   178,000  

      

RETAINED EARNINGS      

Opening balance      

Balance carried forward from previous period  3,511,564  2,861,664   2,862,000  

Adjusted opening balance   3,511,564  2,861,664   2,862,000  

      
Comprehensive income      

Surplus for the period  985,500  649,900    - 

Total comprehensive income   985,500  649,900    - 

           

Transactions with owners      

Returns of operating appropriation  (648,600)  -   

Total transactions with owners   (648,600)  -  2,862,000  

Closing balance as at 30 June   3,848,464  3,511,564  2,862,000  

      

TOTAL EQUITY      

Opening balance      

Balance carried forward from previous period  3,657,564  3,039,664   3,040,000  

Adjusted opening balance   3,657,564  3,039,664   3,040,000  

      
Comprehensive income      

Surplus for the period  985,500  649,900    - 

Total comprehensive income   985,500  649,900    - 

Transactions with owners      

Returns of capital  (65,000) (32,000)   - 

Returns of operating appropriation  (648,600)  -   - 

Total transactions with owners   (713,600) (32,000)   - 

Closing balance as at 30 June   3,929,464  3,657,564   3,040,000  

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
Cash Flow Statement 
for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 

  

 

2018 2017   
 Original 

Budget  
  Notes  $   $     $  

OPERATING ACTIVITIES      

Cash received      

Appropriations        1,018,977     1,350,400     5,970,000  

Net GST received               7,558           68,739         160,000  

Total cash received      1,026,535     1,419,139     6,130,000  

      

Cash used      

Employees  (81,393) (83,896)  (1,301,000) 

Suppliers  (932,912) (1,304,354)  (4,829,000) 

Section 74 receipts transferred to OPA  (10,577)  -                   -    

Total cash used  (1,024,881) (1,388,250)  (6,130,000) 

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities              1,654  30,889                    -    

      

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held               1,654  30,889                    -    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the reporting period 

          47,274  16,385  
 

        16,000  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the reporting period 

2.1A           48,928  47,274  
 

        16,000  

 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
OVERVIEW 
for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 

The National Competition Council (NCC) is an Australian Government controlled not-for-profit entity. 

The Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements and are required by section 42 of 

the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013.  

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with: 

a) Public Governance, Performance and Accountability (Financial Reporting) Rule 2015 (FRR) 

for reporting periods ending on or after 1 July 2015; and   

b) Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that apply for the reporting 

period. 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and in accordance with the historical 

cost convention, except for certain assets and liabilities stated at fair value. Except where stated, no 

allowance is made for the effect of changing prices on the operating results or the financial position. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. 

New Accounting Standards 

No new, revised or amending standards or interpretations were issued prior to the signing of the 

statements by the accountable authority and chief financial officer, that would apply to the current 

reporting period and that would have a material effect on NCC's financial statements. 

Related Parties 

The NCC is an Australian Government controlled entity. Related parties to this entity are Key 

Management Personnel including the Portfolio Minister and Executive, and other Australian 

Government entities.    

Significant transactions with related parties can include:  

 the payments of grants or loans;  

 purchases of goods and services;  

 asset purchases, sales transfers or leases;   

 debts forgiven; and  

 guarantees.  

The Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC) provides Key Management Personnel 

services in fulfilling the secretariat role under the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the 

two entities. Expenditure incurred under this agreement in 2017-18 totals $850,000. The MOU also 

provides that an appropriately qualified SES officer (from the ACCC) will be designated as Executive 

Director of the NCC. 
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Giving consideration to relationships with other related entities, and transactions entered into during 

the reporting period by the entity, it has been determined that there are no related party transactions 

to be separately disclosed. 

Key Management Personnel 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director 

(whether executive or otherwise) of that entity.  

The entity has determined the key management personnel to be the NCC president and councillors.  In 

addition, pursuant to the MOU between the NCC and ACCC, an executive director from the ACCC. Key 

management personnel remuneration is reported in Note 4.1. 

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates 

No accounting assumptions and estimates have been identified that have a significant risk of causing a 

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period. 

Revenue from Government 

Amounts appropriated for departmental appropriations for the year (adjusted for any formal additions 

and reductions) are recognised as Revenue from Government when the NCC gains control of the 

appropriation. Appropriations receivable are recognised at their nominal amounts. 

Other Revenue 

Resources received free of charge are recognised as other revenue when, and only when, a fair value 

can be reliably determined and the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. 

Use of those resources is recognised as an expense. 

Employee Benefits - Superannuation and Leave Benefits 

Councillors are members of accumulation superannuation schemes. 

The liability for superannuation recognised as at 30 June represents outstanding contributions for the 

final fortnight of the year. 

Councillors do not receive leave benefits. 

Cash 

Cash is recognised at its nominal amount. Cash and cash equivalents includes cash held on deposit in 

bank accounts. 

Financial Assets 

The NCC classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. 

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the 

time of initial recognition. Financial assets are recognised and derecognised upon the 'trade date'. 

Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or 

other financial liabilities. Financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised upon the 'trade date'. 
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Supplier and other payables are recognised at amortised cost. Liabilities are recognised to the extent 

that the goods or services have been received (and irrespective of having been invoiced). 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised in the statement of financial position.  

They may arise from uncertainty as to the existence of a liability or asset or represent an asset or 

liability in respect of which the amount cannot be reliably measured. Contingent assets are disclosed 

when settlement is probable but not virtually certain and contingent liabilities are disclosed when 

settlement is greater than remote. 

The NCC has no quantifiable or unquantifiable contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2018 (2017: 

nil). 

Further Developments 

The NCC disclosed an event after the reporting period in the 2016-17 annual financial statements 

relating to a Federal Court judgement that may result in a payment of court costs. No further 

developments have been made, with any potential payment remaining indeterminable.   

Commitments 

The NCC has no commitments for the acquisition or disposal of property plant and equipment or 

leased assets. 

Taxation / Competitive Neutrality 

The NCC is exempt from all forms of taxation except Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and the Goods and 

Services Tax (GST). 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except: 

a) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office; 

and 

b) for receivables and payables. 

The NCC provides services on a not-for-profit basis which are not subject to Competitive Neutrality 

arrangements. 

Events After the Reporting Period 

NCC has no events after the reporting period. 
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 

1.1 Expenses 

 

 2018 2017 
  $ $ 

   

1.1A: Employee Benefits   

Wages and salaries 69,000  69,787  

Superannuation   

Defined contribution plans 12,380  14,128  

Total employee benefits 81,380  83,915  

   

1.1B: Suppliers   

Goods and services supplied or rendered   

Legal expenses 57,060  196,192  

Consultants and contracted services 882,000  807,000  

Travel expenses 5,346  11,043  

Information technology and communications 3,630  3,936  

Property operating expenses 5,087  2,455  

Employee related expenses  - 2,236  

Information management expenses 1,270  624  

Other administration expenses 600  1,383  

Total goods and services supplied or rendered 954,993  1,024,869  

   

Goods supplied 205  240  

Services rendered  954,788  1,024,629  

Total goods and services supplied or rendered 954,993  1,024,869  

   

Other suppliers   

Workers compensation expenses 2,127  316  

Total other suppliers 2,127  316  

      

Total suppliers 957,120  1,025,185  
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 

2.1 Financial Assets 

 

  2018 2017 
    $ $ 

    
2.1A: Cash and Cash Equivalents    

Cash on hand or on deposit  48,928  47,274  

Total cash and cash equivalents  48,928  47,274  

    
2.1B: Trade and Other Receivables    

Goods and services receivables    

Goods and services  1,183   - 

Total goods and services receivables 
 

 1,183   - 

    

Appropriations receivables    

Appropriation receivable  3,667,000  3,397,000  

Total appropriations receivables  3,667,000  3,397,000  

    

Other receivables    

Statutory receivables  5  551  

Total other receivables  5  551  

Total trade and other receivables (gross)  3,668,188  3,397,551  

    

Total trade and other receivables (net)  3,668,188  3,397,551  
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 

2.2 Payables 

 

 2018 2017 
  $ $ 

   

2.2A: Suppliers   

Trade creditors and accruals 27  1,902  

Total suppliers 27  1,902  

   
Settlement is usually made within 30 days.   

 

2.2B: Other Payables   

Salaries and wages 540  525  

Superannuation 83  110  

Other 120   - 

Total other payables 743  635  
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the period ended 30 June 2018 

3.1 Appropriations 

3.1A: Annual appropriations (‘Recoverable GST exclusive’) 

Annual Appropriations for 2018 

 Annual 
Appropriation 

Adjustments 
to 

appropriation 

Total 
appropriation 

Appropriation 
applied in 2018 

(current and prior 
years) 

Variance1 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

Departmental      
     Ordinary annual services 5,970,000  3,018  5,973,018  1,006,747  4,966,271  

Total departmental 5,970,000  3,018  5,973,018  1,006,747  4,966,271  

On 26 June 2018 $3,978,000 was withheld from Appropriation Act (No.1) 2017-18 in accordance with s51 of the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 

2013, as a result of a policy decision of government. This amount remains legally available, but was removed from the appropriation receivables balance at 30 June 2018. 

1  The variance arises between the current year appropriation and the amount applied in 2017-18 as the total appropriation applied in the current year was sourced 

from prior year appropriations only. 

Annual Appropriations for 2017 

 Annual 
Appropriation 

Adjustments 
to 

appropriation 

Total 
appropriation 

Appropriation 
applied in 2017  

(current and prior 
years) 

Variance1 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

Departmental      
     Ordinary annual services 1,727,000   - 1,727,000  1,319,511  407,489  

Total departmental 1,727,000   - 1,727,000  1,319,511  407,489  

1  The variance arises between the current year appropriation and the amount applied in 2016-17 as the total appropriation applied in the current year was sourced 

from prior year appropriations only. 
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 

3.1B: Unspent Annual Appropriations (‘Recoverable GST exclusive’) 

 

  2018 2017 

  $ $ 

Departmental    

Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2012-13   33,000  

Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2013-14   32,000  

Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2014-15   32,000  

Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2015-16  648,600  1,605,000  

Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2016-17  955,000  1,007,000  

Supply Act (No. 1) 2016-17  720,000  720,000  

Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2017-18  5,970,000   - 

Total departmental  8,293,600  3,429,000  

 

Notes - In addition to the unspent appropriations disclosed above, at 30 June 2018 the NCC had cash and cash equivalents of $48,928 (2017: $47,274) 

The unspent balance of the 2015-16 appropriation lapses 1 July 2018. This amount was legally available, but was removed from the appropriation receivables balance at 

30 June 2018. 
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 

4.1 Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

 

 2018 2017 
  $ $ 

   

Short-term employee benefits 69,000  69,787  

Post-employment benefits 12,380  14,128  

Total key management personnel remuneration expenses1 81,380  83,915  

 

 

There were no performance bonuses (2017: Nil). 

The total number of key management personnel that are included in the above table is 4 (2017: 3). 

1  The above key management personnel remuneration excludes the remuneration and other benefits 

of the Portfolio Minister and Executive Director. The Portfolio Minister's remuneration and other 

benefits are set by the Remuneration Tribunal and are not paid by the entity. The Executive Director 

is appointed pursuant to the MOU between the ACCC and NCC where expenditure is incurred as 

part of the agreement. 
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NATIONAL COMPETITION COUNCIL 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the period ended 30 June 2018 

 

5.1 Financial Instruments 

 

 

    2018 2017 
        $ $ 

      
5.1A: Categories of Financial Instruments     

Financial Assets      

Loans and receivables      

Cash and cash equivalents    48,928  47,274  

Goods and services    1,183   - 

Total loans and receivables    50,111  47,274  

      
Total financial assets    50,111  47,274  

      
Financial Liabilities      

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost    

Trade creditors  27 1,902 

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  27  1,902  

Total financial liabilities  27  1,902  
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6.1 Budgetary Reporting 

Explanations of major variances between the actual amounts presented in the financial statements 

and the corresponding original budget amounts. 

Departmental    Affected line items 

Statement of Comprehensive Income and Cash flow Statement 
 
Employee benefits 
 
Supplier expenses 
 
Departmental Appropriation 
 
Employee cash used 
 
Supplier cash used 
 
Appropriations cash received 
  
Net GST cash received 
 
 
 
 
 

Trade and other receivables 
 
Prepayments 
 
Contributed equity 
 
Retained surplus 

The NCC realised significant underspends in both employee ($1.22 
million) and supplier expenses ($3.74million) in 2017-18. The primary 
reason for the underspends is due to a policy decision of government 
to substantially reverse appropriation funding of ($3.96 million) from 
budget measures contained in the Original Budget.  
 
Supplier expenses as part of the Council's 'business-as-usual' work 
was also below budget ($0.64 million) due to lower activity levels and 
underspends on discretionary items. Supplier expenses will fluctuate 
based on the level of activity required for the year.  
 
The budgeted cash flow statement is a reflection of the budgeted 
statement of comprehensive income that has been grossed up for 
GST. The variances result from the underspend on expenses explained 
above. 

Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Changes in Equity 

The underspends in the current and prior year contributed to the 
variations in the budget to actual results in the financial statements. 
The budgeted balance sheet and equity statement is based on a 
break-even position being achieved. Accordingly, the significant 
surpluses over the past two financial years totalling $1.64 million, 
offset by $0.75million in unbudgeted repeals of unspent 
appropriations has driven the $0.61 million increase in trade and 
other receivables. The remaining difference is the $0.21 million 
prepayment recognised at 30 June 2018 for secretariat fees paid to 
the ACCC for the first quarter of 2018-19. The timing of this 
prepayment meant that it was not budgeted for in 2017-18. 
 
The net position results in the retained surplus being $0.99 million 
greater than budget and all of the major variances between budget 
and actual results in the statement of changes in equity are the result 
of the mismatch between the budget base and the proceeding two 
years of surpluses, as well as adjustments for the repeal of prior year 
unspent appropriations discussed above. 

 

Budget Variances Commentary – Administered 

Application Fees - There were no application fees received by the Council under the National Gas Law 

(NGL). The budget estimated there would be one application in the financial year.  
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